IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.		

TERRY MELVIN SIMS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Public Defender
STEVEN H. MALONE
Fla. Bar No. 305545
Assistant Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit
Capital Crimes Division
421 Third Street, Sixth Floor

RICHARD JORANDBY

West Palm Beach, Florida 33401

(407) 355-7707

INTRODUCTION

Argument I: The truth was not told at Mr. Sims' trial and sentencing, and he was wrongfully convicted and sentenced to death. If the truth is told at a re-trial, Mr. Sims would be acquitted. The cost of a re-trial is insignificant when compared with the alternative – government execution of an innocent person.¹

Mr. Sims was wrongly convicted in the same way that most innocent capital

This is not the atmosphere in the executive and legislative offices in Tallahassee. "In Florida ... 20 wrongful convictions resulted in inmates being sent to death row – the most in the nation. [Yet 1]awmakers in Florida recently enacted a so-called fast-track system that shortens times for appeals for inmates sentenced to death." (Appendix A).

¹ The death penalty machinery in this country is not infallible–innocent persons by the scores end up on death row. The now irrefutable evidence of this horror:

⁽a.) led the Republican Governor of the State of Illinois (a strong proponent of capital punishment) to place a moratorium on executions until a panel can determine whether the risk of executing innocent persons can be eliminated. N.Y. Times, February 6, 2000; Tallahassee Democrat, February 13, 2000 (Appendix A);

⁽b.) led to the February 11, 2000, introduction of the Federal "Innocence Protection Act," which "offers a range of solutions to rectify wrongful convictions and prevent further injustices from occurring." (Appendix B); and

⁽c.) led the "certainly concerned" president of the United States seriously to consider Senator Russ Feingold's request that the federal government not execute any federally death-sentenced persons. AP, February 4, 2000 (Appendix A).

defendants are: the perjured testimony of co-defendants.² The lower court found that Petitioner had satisfied the standard in this State for consideration of "newly discovered evidence" of innocence with respect to a perjurious co-defendant, but denied relief by holding that this newly discovered evidence would not be admissible

In "Miscarriages of Justice," the authors determined that *the most frequent* reason for the conviction of an innocent person is perjury: "*perjury by prosecution witnesses* (117 cases) is twice as frequent a cause of error as the next most important factors (eyewitness testimony, in 56 cases, and false or coerced confessions, in 49 cases)." App. C, note 184 (emphasis added). And,

"[p]otentially capital cases tend, more than other felony cases, to lack eyewitnesses except for those who are or might be considered as accomplices. The arrest of accomplices creates a greater incentive for perjury in this type of crime" because of the risk of a death sentence.

Id. (emphasis added). This phenomenon readily explains the testimony of the chief witnesses against Mr. Sims, the co-defendants, Halsell and Baldree.

² During the evidentiary hearing held below, Professor Michael Radelet testified about problems which have arisen with executions by lethal injection, and his study of such "botched" executions was introduced. *See* Defendant's Exhibit 2. The State cross-examined Professor Radelet regarding another of his scholarly works, his study of innocent persons who had been sentenced to death, *see* Bedau & Radelet, Miscarriages of Justice in Potentially Capital Cases, 40 Stan L. Rev. 21 (1987)(hereinafter "Miscarriages of Justice"), which was then introduced into evidence. *See* Appendix C, hereto; *see*, *also*, *Herrera v. Collins*, 113 S.Ct. 853, n. 15 (1992)(citing "Miscarriages of Justice," and citing Markman & Cassell, Protecting the Innocent: A Response to the Bedau-Radelet Study, 41 Stan. L. Rev. 121 (1988) [also introduced below]); *Callins v. Collins*, 114 S.Ct. 1127, 1138, n. 8 (1994)(Blackmun, J., dissenting from the denial of certiorari)(citing "Miscarriages of Justice" in support of finding that "innocent persons have been executed").

on re-trial. This was error, the evidence *would* be admitted on re-trial, and the record as a whole provides no confidence that the Petitioner is guilty. *State v. Gunsby*, 670 So.2d 920 (Fla. 1996).

Argument II: Mr. Sims was sentenced to death by judicial electrocution. Tr.R. 1089. That is the only lawful sentence that can be applied to him. The clearly established *substantive* law of the State of Florida at the time of the crime for which Mr. Sims was wrongly convicted, and at the time of his conviction and sentencing, required that Mr. Sims be executed by judicial electrocution, if at all. See Art. X, § 9, Fla. Const.; Washington v. Dowling, 92 Fla. 601,109 So. 588 (Fla. 1926); Ex parte Browne, 93 Fla. 332, 111 So. 518 (Fla. 1927). Florida law also provided that if the death penalty in a case is declared unconstitutional, as Mr. Sims's death sentence would be were a challenge to judicial electrocution finally considered, the sentence must be reduced to life. § 775.082, Fla. Stat. (1981).

Throughout the entire history of this case, Florida substantive law provided that a statutory change in a method execution could not be applied retroactively as punishment for a crime committed before the change in law. *Washington*; *Browne*, *supra*. The State and lower court argue that a recent amendment to Article I, section 17 of the Florida Constitution (hereinafter "revised section 17") changed that aspect of Florida law. The validity of revised section 17 is a matter currently pending before

this Court, and until that issue is decided, the amendment cannot be applied to Mr. Sims. In fact, the application of revised section 17 to this case, raises serious questions about the amendment's validity. If the amendment to section 17 is upheld, or if this Court overrules *Washington* and *Browne*, *supra*, that change would unconstitutionally alter Mr. Sims's rights in violation of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, and the Ex Post Facto Clause of Article I, section 10, United States Constitution.

Argument III: Appellant had to prepare this lethal injection challenge in the dark, and conduct the hearing without preparation. DOC concealed the specifics of critical matters about its proposed lethal injection methods prior to filing of this postconviction motion, and what specifics were learned had to be drawn out of DOC-supplied witnesses during the hearing itself. Such slipshod review of an issue of such fundamental importance as the method by which the state intends to take a life cannot be considered sufficient.

During the hearing appellant sought to introduce testimony that physician and physician assistant participation in a lethal injection was contrary to their respective codes of ethics, but the trial court sustained the state's objection, and refused to permit its introduction. The proffered testimony showed these professionals are in fact precluded from such participation. This evidence is quite relevant to the issues

before the court, since the evidence shows DOC intends to rely on physicians and physician's assistants to assist when a problem arises, when in fact, they cannot.

Argument IV: DOC seeks to avoid judicial review of its lethal injection procedures by writing nothing down. But by writing nothing down, it has deprived the participants of any guidance in how a lethal injection is to be conducted, and sewn confusion into the process. Though the only medically-trained person from DOC to testify stated he would not participate in the execution, the equally sure testimony from DOC officials was that he was being relied upon to assist in case of trouble. Though the people at FSP believe the non-medical executioner is in charge once the flow of chemicals begins, the Secretary of DOC believes "medically-trained" people will take over if there is a problem. These and other conflicts in the understanding of the participants show no one is in charge, and that DOC is not prepared to carry out a lethal injection that does not carry a substantial risk of unnecessary pain and a lingering death. The plans DOC does have nearly ensure the actual method of execution will be by asphyxiation, as an inmate is likely to aspirate vomit as the anesthetic is introduced within an hour of the last meal. Other parts of the protocol conflict with state law and the constitutions: there is no provision for the inmate's counsel and spiritual adviser to be present, and part of the execution will be conducted out of sight of the statutorily-required witnesses.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS RELEVANT TO LETHAL INJECTION

Dr. Radelet is a Professor of Sociology and chair of that department at the University of Florida. T11. He taught medical ethics at the medical school for ten years, and continues to teach that course. T12. He has an extensive educational background, and has given testimony before various legislative bodies and the courts on issues involving the death penalty. T13-14. He has conducted numerous studies and has authored numerous articles on the death penalty. T14; Ex. 1.

Professor Radelet coauthored a paper about to be published in an attempt to establish a prevalence measure of how often executions go wrong in the United States. T23. "It turns out that lethal injection is the most commonly botched means of execution in the United States today." T24.³ Two states, Virginia and Texas, stand out for the high number of botched lethal injection executions. Approximately five percent of all executions are botched, and that rate is 5.2% for lethal injections. T25. This rate appears to stay steady over time. T24.

An "array" of problems have arisen during lethal injections: a breakdown in the drug sequence leading to gasping for breath or audible distress, violent, prolonged

³ By "botched," the witness means "those in which there were unanticipated problems or delays that caused, at least arguably, unnecessary agony for the prisoner, or that reflect gross incompetence of the executioner." T26-27.

movements indicating some agony. "Probably the most common problem with lethal injection is the difficulty of finding a good vein." T28. 4 In one case the straps were too tight and the drugs could not flow. T55. Five of the sixteen cases involved problems that occurred requiring the process to be interrupted after the first dose of anesthetic was administered. "So, thereby it caused a gradual rather than an instantaneous death." T30. In one case there was a kink in the plastic tubing, another a chemical reaction between the drugs that clogged the IV tube. T30-31.5 In two cases, the syringe came out of the inmates' arm after the chemicals began to flow, one in which a vein collapsed. T31-32.6 There were four cases in which the witnesses observed violent movements or spasms or hearing heaving sounds during the execution attributed by prison officials to unusual violent reactions to the drugs used in the lethal injection. T33. All of the lethal injection executions in which problems took place lasted longer than 45 minutes.

The court sustained the state's objection to testimony concerning the medical

⁴ Short vignettes of botched executions are contained in the study, which was admitted as Exhibit 2. T29.

⁵ In that case the anesthesiologist blamed the inexperience of the prison officials in administering drugs. T54.

⁶ The study is based on newspaper reports, which were proffered, sometimes spokespersons for the department of corrections, and some interviews with people involved. T32, 54.

ethics of physicians and physician assistants participating in executions, T16-20, so appellant proffered the testimony. On this issue, Dr. Radelet testified, with supporting documentation (Comp. Exh. C), that "the American Medical Association guidelines make it very clear that physicians should not be involved in executions at all except to certify death and even that exception is subject to some controversy within the profession." T35. Most interpretations forbid a physician from being present because "it puts the physician in to a position where she or he would tell the executioner that the inmate is not yet dead and, therefore, in fact, order a second jolt of electricity or be there to assist with the lethal injection apparatus." T36. Physician's Assistants are governed by similar rules. The American Academy of Physicians' Assistants has had a rule in place since 1983 stating that "physician's assistants should not participate in executions." T36. It is consistent with and similar to the American Medical Association policy prohibiting physician involvement in executions. T38.

The state crossed Professor Radelet at length on his article coauthored with Professor Bedau, cataloguing the execution of innocent people. T60; Appendix C, hereto. While then-Attorney General Edwin Meese criticized the article, "the vast majority of the evaluations of that paper and subsequent research has been quite positive. Former Chief Justice Gerald Kogan, has personally as well as publicly

commended us for that work as have several members of the U.S. Supreme Court." T61.

On questioning from the court about comparing mistakes in lethal injections to normal medical procedures, Professor Radelet testified the two could not really be compared because normal medical procedures are performed by highly trained people, while those participating in lethal injections, these more experienced people are not involved because of ethical bans. T66-67.

There was a renewed request for a subpoena duces tecum. T69.

James Crosby, warden of Florida State Prison, testified he is the person designated by statute with the responsibility for carrying out executions. T70. The warden has no medical training or certification. T71. The department set up the lethal injection procedures, and he has been a part of that. In developing the lethal injection procedures, his role has been to insure he has the right people with the right background to handle the scientific part. T72. The warden did not participate in any way in selecting the equipment or chemicals to be used in the lethal injection. T72. He designated people to handle that. T72. He has "more or less" directed people in their positions and "coordinated their efforts" in getting ready, "but I did not make the selection of the persons that would be used in the process." T73. He did not make selections of the chemicals or hardware or anything like that. T73. He has not

observed any lethal injection execution in any other state. T100.

The only written protocols for carrying out lethal injection executions are those contained in Exhibit 4. There are no other written documents he was "aware of" setting out the procedures for conducting the lethal injection execution. T74. Warden Crosby is "not aware of" any documents setting forth the amount of medical training of people who are to mix the compounds, the drugs or chemicals which are to be used, the sequence in which the drugs are to be administered, for variations in administration depending on the inmate's body weight, medical history, last time they ate a meal, or what meal they ate. T75-76; 77. Neither has he seen audio or videotapes describing the procedure, and does not know who would have any written documents or written procedures. T96. The warden could "probably pass that test" on which chemicals are to be used, but does not have the dosages memorized. T77. He could not describe the volume of the syringe or IV tubing or length, or the mixtures or concentration levels. T97. There are two IV tubes. T97.

The procedures were developed by attorneys and others in central office staff, some of whom were trained in "those sciences." T78. The warden does not know who was at those meetings. The warden knows who the executioners are. T78. One person actually administers the drugs. T80. The qualifications of that person, the executioner, are they be over 21, citizens of the state, and have ability to perform the

function. T81. This is in "the statutes." T81. He was not just telling the court what the statute says,

I am telling you what you have to do to do it. That's all you have to do to do it. The function itself is something anyone with reasonable intelligence can do and functioning skills. I mean, there is nothing to it except for administering the syringe, pushing the syringe. That's their only function.

T81; 102.

Warden Crosby described his understanding of how the lethal injection procedure is to be carried out:

There will be a sequence of syringes that have the premixed drugs in each syringe. You will take one and you will put it into the tubing. You will push the syringe. You put it down and pick up Number 2 and go through, I think, it's eight syringes. It may be six or eight syringes. It's preset as that's what's needed by those persons who have the scientific knowledge and expertise to put that part of it together. Their role is just the pushing of the drug itself into the tubing.

T81-82. Two IV lines with saline solutions are hanging on hooks, and the syringe interrupts the flow and pushes through the actual chemicals. T103. Before bringing the inmate into the execution chamber, he will be strapped into a gurney. T83.

As for the person who actually inserts the needle or catheter, "One initially is involved in that process. We also have a person on standby if the process becomes

T83. Specific people are designated for this duty, with a more complicated." "considerable amount of experience in that field." T84. The backup has even more extensive training. The warden has not actually read the certification of either person, but knows basically what their backgrounds are. T84. Neither person is required to be a physician's assistant, "but we have a physician's assistant there watching and monitoring the process. . . They could assist if necessary, but it's not a part of the way it would normally operate." T84. It is not planned that the person who inserts the needle be a physician's assistant, though it could be. T84. It would be someone they consider capable. T85. The physician's assistant is "somebody that if we need could be used. That would be available to use." T85. The physician's assistant is present as a backup and a non physicians assistant actually inserts the needle. T85. The person who is to insert the needle has never participated in a lethal injection to the warden's knowledge. T85. He or she went to Virginia, however, to watch two lethal injections. T85. The physician's assistant has been to Texas to watch executions. T86.

He has not had a psychological evaluation conducted on the person who is to insert the needle, or on the physician's assistant, or the executioner. T86. No background check of any of these individuals has been conducted other than a criminal background check. T86. "We have done no special background checks on

any of these persons on this process and procedure." T86.

A medical doctor is supposed to be present during the procedure, and that person's name is blacked out on the protocol. T87. The physician's duty it "[t]o pronounce the offender dead." T87. Also, "If there is a problem, yes, the physician would be available to assist if we had a problem." T87.

The warden knows no more about the specifics of the administration of the chemicals. T87.

When asked how the people participating in the lethal injection know what they are all supposed to do since there are written guidelines, the warden testified:

Well, the people that are carrying out the various aspects of the procedures have been trained in their fields which directly transfers over to the actions they are taking. The person that is inserting the IV doesn't need a procedure on how to insert the IV. He knows how to insert the IV. He's done it. The person is trained in that.

The person – in any procedure that is required, the people knowhow to perform those functions. In other words, an officer doesn't need a written procedure on how to escort an inmate. The officers are trained in strapping down the inmate. They don't need written guidelines on how to do that. They do that by practice.

So, yes, I guess to answer your question it is their own self-knowledge in each of these stages according to what role they are playing.

T88. As for the people who insert the needle, he knows of their qualifications

because someone "from the medical standpoint" told him who they were and what they did. He hasn't read their credentials himself. T89. He did not select the person who inserts the needle. He knows the persons who are preparing the chemicals are qualified because of their present job function; one is a pharmacist. T90-91.

He did not have the Virginia Department of Corrections Execution Manual with him, but did not remember what it said, but that it was similar to theirs. T90.

As for who will prepare and label the syringes, the warden testified:

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