IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TERRY MELVIN SIMS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC00-295

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Death Warrant Signed Execution Scheduled for February 23, 2000 at 7:00 a.m.

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #438847

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #0998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF FONT

This brief is typed in Courier New 12 point.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The newly discovered evidence claim is not a basis for relief because Sims cannot make the required showing of due diligence with regard to the evidence at issue, as well as because, as the trial court found, that evidence is inadmissible, unreliable hearsay. Sims has failed to demonstrate the exercise of due diligence, and,

moreover, cannot establish that the evidence in question is reasonably likely to produce an acquittal on retrial.

Sims' ex post facto challenge to the application of the lethal injection statute fails because a change in the method of execution of a sentence of death is not an increase in punishment. There are no ex post facto implications associated with a change in method of execution.

Sims' claim concerning judicial electrocution is foreclosed by binding precedent.

Sims' claim that execution by lethal injection is unconstitutional is contrary to prior decisions on the issue, as well as being contrary to the facts. The evidence presented to the trial court established that execution by lethal injection results in rapid unconsciousness without pain.

ARGUMENT

I. THE "NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE" CLAIM.

The "Newly Discovered Evidence" Claim contained in Sims' Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 Motion, which was denied by the Circuit Court in an order issued on February 12, 2000, is a continuation of the same claim that was contained in the prior proceedings before this Court that concluded in October of 1999. This Court affirmed the Circuit Court's denial of post-conviction relief in that proceeding, and, for the reasons set out below, should likewise affirm the Circuit Court's most recent denial of

relief.

The "Newly Discovered Evidence" Claim contained in the most recent Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 proceeding is, for all practical purposes, the same claim as the one that was previously decided adversely to Sims. To the extent that there is a Brady v. Maryland component to this claim, the trial court decided that issue adversely to Sims in October of 1999, and this Court affirmed on appeal therefrom. Sims v. State, 24 Fla. Law Weekly S519 (Fla. Oct. 27, 1999). In respect to the "Newly Discovered Evidence" claim¹ contained in the most recent petition, the Circuit Court stated as follows:

The first affidavit is from a witness who testified at trial whose name is Joyce Gray. From the outset of this case, the defense has attempted to prove that the true culprit is a person known as Terry Gayle and not Terry Sims. In her affidavit, Joyce Gray states that she was present with Terry Gayle shortly after codefendant, Curtis Baldree, was arrested and overheard Gayle say "something to the effect that 'it must have been the Longwood job.'" She also claims that Baldree told her that he lied at trial "to protect himself and the others that were actually involved." On another occasion Joyce Gray claims that Baldree was "very high" and stated to a person named Jerry Lawrence "that he did what he had to do." Baldree, of course, is dead. And Joyce Gray is a convicted felon. But in any event, this court ruled on October 24, 1999, in the last post conviction relief proceeding that "there was substantial competent evidence to convict Sims of the murder even if the jury totally rejected the testimony of Halsell and even if they rejected the testimony of Baldree." See,

 $^{^1{}m The}$ evidence in support of Sims' newly discovered evidence claim consisted of four affidavits which, as the trial court noted, were stipulated into evidence in lieu of live testimony. *Order*, at 2.

Order dated October 24, 1999. While it may be entirely true that Baldree made the statements claimed, his motivation for making them is suspect. The statements are hearsay, lack credibility and trustworthiness and are inadmissible in evidence. (FN1)

The second affidavit is from Steven Scott Milliken. He was about six years of age at the time of the events to which he relates. He states that his mother, now deceased, was the girlfriend of B.B. Halsell². He claims his mother told him that B.B. Halsell shot her accidently when he was trying to shoot Terry Sims because he caught them having sex. The witness also claims that his mother told him that "Terry Sims was on death row for something he didn't do." The statements contained in the affidavit are either expressions of opinion without foundation about the case or are hearsay. In either case, they lack trustworthiness and are inadmissible in evidence. (FN2)

FN1. F.S. 90.804(2)(c)

FN2. Id.

Order, at 2-3. The other two affidavits submitted in support of this claim are from two Georgia attorneys who state that they were requested to locate Joyce Gray on October 23, 1999, and did so. Order, at 4. The trial court concluded discussion of this claim, stating:

These two affidavits are submitted to establish that Joyce Gray's affidavit and Steven Scott Milliken's affidavit are "newly discovered evidence." See, Jones v. State, 591 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1991). The court gives the defense the benefit to the doubt on that issue. However, the court concludes that Joyce Gray's testimony and Scott Milliken's testimony would not result in a different verdict upon retrial since the evidence is inadmissible. Woodard v. State, 579 So.2d 875, 887 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); Jackson v. State, 421 So.2d 15 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

²Milliken's mother was Gail Milliken, who testified at Sims' trial as a defense witness.

Order, at 4. Those findings of fact by the trial court are supported by competent substantial evidence, are not an abuse of discretion, and should be affirmed in all respects.

To the extent that further discussion of this claim is necessary, the Joyce Gray component of this claim was before this Court in the October, 1999, proceedings, but was unaddressed therein. Gray testified at Sims' trial in 1979 as a defense witness, and, from all that appears from these proceedings, is friendly to the defense. The disposition of the Gray component of this claim is controlled by this Court's decision in Mills v. State, where this Court denied relief on a similar claim of "new evidence" arising from a witness who testified at trial. This court stated:

However, Tina Partain testified at trial and was available at that time for examination concerning any connection between Fredrick and the victim or between Fredrick and Mock, or concerning any other persons or who had connection with either of them. Nor is there sufficient showing that Tina Partain was not available to through due diligence during the time required by the rule.

Mills v. State, 684 So.2d 801, 805 (Fla. 1996). The situation presented by the Gray affidavit is no different from the circumstances of Mills. That case controls the result in this case, and, moreover, to the extent that other discussion of the Gray affidavit is necessary, the Circuit Court's finding that Sims would have been convicted even had the jury rejected the testimony of

Baldree (which is the subject of the Gray affidavit), is dispositive of the issue.

With respect to the Milliken affidavit, the affiant is the **son** of Gail Milliken who testified as a defense witness at Sims' 1979 trial. This Court's decision in *Mills* is dispositive of this component of the newly discovered evidence claim, as well.

In addition to the foregoing reasons for the denial of relief, the following procedural grounds are independently adequate grounds for denial of all relief on this claim³.

The "new evidence" claim contained within Sims' Rule 3.850 motion is untimely, successive, and an abuse of procedure. Sims cannot establish the due diligence component of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850(d)(1), and, for that reason, is not entitled to relief. The evidence actually shows that, once Sims decided to try to find Joyce Gray, he succeeded almost immediately — that demonstrates a lack of due diligence, not the exercise of it. Sims has failed to make the necessary threshold showing that would allow the court to consider these claims. In fact, the only evidence before the trial court, and before this Court, consists of affidavits which in no way establish that the affiants could not have been previously discovered through the exercise of due

³As is discussed herein, Sims presented two affidavits in a futile attempt to establish due diligence as to Gray. He made no such effort with respect to Milliken, and that "evidence" could and should be disposed of based upon that failure of proof.

diligence.⁴ Moreover, the "new evidence" claims fail because, as the trial court found, none of that evidence is admissible because it is hearsay (or compound hearsay) that is being offered for the truth of the matters asserted therein. *Stano v. State*, 708 So.2d 271 (Fla. 1998).

To the extent that further discussion of the due diligence component is necessary, Florida law is clear that, because this is a successive motion for post-conviction relief filed more than one year following finality of the judgment and sentence, Sims has the burden of demonstrating that he has exercised due diligence. See, Mills v. State, 684 So.2d 801, 804-05 (Fla. 1996); Stano v. State, 708 So.2d 271 (Fla. 1998); Buenoano v. State, 708 So.2d 941, 952 (Fla. 1998); Remeta v. State, 710 So.2d 543, 546-48 (Fla. 1998); Davis v. State, 24 Fla. Law Weekly S345 (Fla. July 1, 1999). The murder in this case occurred in 1977, and Sims' convictions and sentences of death have been final since 1984. This claim could and should have been brought years ago⁵.

In addition to a complete failure of proof as to the due diligence component of the new evidence standard, Sims has also completely failed, as the trial court found, to establish that the evidence at issue is reasonably likely to produce an acquittal on

⁴In fact, Sims made no effort to establish the due diligence component. That is fatal to any claim for relief.

⁵Sims made no effort to establish "due diligence" with respect to Scott Milliken.

retrial. Under settled Florida law, that is the standard that Sims must meet. See, Stano, supra; Remeta, supra; Jones v. State, 591 So.2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1991). The circuit court's denial of relief should be affirmed.

II. THE APPLICATION OF THE LETHAL INJECTION STATUTE

Sims also claims that he cannot be executed by lethal injection because "the lethal injection statute does not apply to him." The circuit court denied relief on this claim, finding, inter alia, that:

Lethal injection may be substituted as an alternative means of execution because Sims was on notice of the severity of the punishment attributable to his crime at the time of the offense. The change in the means of execution does not criminalize or punish conduct which was innocent when committed, enhance a prior punishment for the same crime, or abrogate a previously valid defense to a crime.

Order, at 9. That resolution of Sims' ex post facto claim is correct, and should be affirmed.

Article I, § 17 of the *Florida Constitution* provides that the method of carrying out a sentence of death shall be determined by the legislature. In pertinent part, that provision reads as follows:

Methods of execution may be designated by the Legislature, and a change in any method of execution may be applied retroactively. A sentence of death shall not be reduced on the basis that a method of execution is invalid. In any case in which an execution method is declared invalid, the death sentence shall remain in force until the sentence can be lawfully executed by any valid method. This section shall apply retroactively.

[emphasis added]. Article 10, § 96 of the *Florida Constitution* provides:

Repeal or amendment of a criminal statute shall not affect prosecution or punishment for any crime previously committed.⁷

Finally, in *Provenzano v. Moore*, a majority of the Florida Supreme Court expressed the opinion that Florida could lawfully change the method through which a sentence of death is carried out from electrocution to lethal injection without running afoul of the State or Federal Constitutions. *Provenzano v. Moore*, 744 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1999). It is against that backdrop that Sims' claim that "the State of Florida cannot execute him by lethal injection as a matter of state and federal constitutional law" is presented. For the reasons set out below, this claim is not a basis for relief.

When the pretensions of Sims' pleading are stripped away, nothing remains save an attempt to avoid execution by asserting a "claim" that has no legal basis under either the State or Federal Constitutions. Regardless of Sims' claims, the true facts are that

 $^{^6}$ This provision is referred to as the "Savings Clause". Dobbert v. State, 375 So.2d 1069, 1071 (Fla. 1979)(application of death penalty statute to defendant did not violate Article 10 § 9); Dobbert v. Florida, 432 U.S. 282 (1977).

 $^{^{7}}$ As Justice Shaw pointed out in *Provenzano*, the Savings Clause does not exist to allow on offender to evade punishment. *Provenzano*, supra, at 440 n.53.

⁸Chief Justice Harding, as well as Justices Lewis, Shaw, Anstead and Pariente agreed that the State could change the method of execution without compromising any pre-existing sentence of death.

this claim was rejected by the United States Supreme Court in 1915, when that Court held, in Malloy v. South Carolina, 237 U.S. 180 (1915), that there was no ex post facto issue presented by applying the electrocution statute to a crime that had been committed at a time when the statute called for a sentence of death to be carried out by hanging. See, Dobbert. See also, Holden v. Minnesota, 137 U.S. 483, 491 (1890); Vickers v. Stewart, 144 F.3d 613 (9th Cir. 1998). Section 922.105 of the Florida Statutes expressly adopts Malloy as the law in this State, and specifically provides that a change in the method of execution "does not increase the punishment or modify the penalty of death for capital murder." § 922.105(3), Fla. Stat. That statutory definition is in accord with the constitutional "definition" of an ex post facto law as settled by the United States Supreme Court and reaffirmed in Collins v. Youngblood, 497 U.S. 37 (1990).9

Moreover, the United States Supreme Court addressed a similar ex post facto challenge in the context of Florida's death penalty act when it was re-enacted following Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972). The Court held that a defendant who committed a capital offense prior to the effective date of the new death penalty act

 $^{^9 \}text{The } \textit{Collins}$ Court cited to Beazell v. Ohio, 269 U.S. 167 (1925), in defining an ex post facto law as one which criminalizes previously allowed conduct, increases punishment of a crime, or removes a defense which was available when the crime was committed. None of those criteria exist in the context of a change in the procedure for carrying out a sentence of death.

could be sentenced to death without violating the ex post facto clause of the Constitution. The Court stated:

Petitioner's second ex post facto claim is based on the contention that at the time he murdered his children there was no death penalty "in effect" in Florida. This is so, he contends, because the earlier statute enacted by the legislature was, after the time he acted, found by the Supreme Court of Florida to be invalid under our decision in Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 92 S.Ct. 33 L.Ed.2d 346 (1972).Therefore, petitioner, there was no "valid" death penalty in effect in Florida as of the date of his actions. But this sophistic argument mocks the substance of the Ex Post Facto Clause. Whether or not the old statute would in the future, withstand constitutional attack, it clearly indicated Florida's view of the severity of murder and of the degree of punishment which the legislature wished to impose upon murderers. The statute was intended to provide maximum deterrence, and its existence on the statute books provided fair warning as to the degree of culpability which the State ascribed to the act of murder.

Dobbert v. Florida, 432 U.S. 282, 297 (1977) [emphasis added]. See also Dobbert v. State, 375 So.2d 1069, 1071 (Fla. 1979) (where the Court rejected on the merits without specific opinion the savings clause challenge re: "Ex Post Facto" "Article X, Sec. 9, Florida Constitution.") Finally, as set out above, the Florida Constitution explicitly provides that methods of execution of sentences of death may be designated by the Legislature and applied "retroactively". Article I, § 17. Because that is the law, Sims' claim that the lethal injection statute does not apply to him is meritless. Sims is not entitled to any relief.

III. THE JUDICIAL ELECTROCUTION CLAIM

To the extent that Sims may argue that execution by electrocution violates the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution, that claim is foreclosed by binding precedent, as the trial court found. *Provenzano v. State*, 744 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1999).

IV. EXECUTION BY LETHAL INJECTION IS CONSTITUTIONAL

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